

Review Article

The Role of Organic Amendments and Their Impact on Soil Restoration: A Review

ABSTRACT

Soil organic matter (SOM) plays a pivotal role in maintaining soil health by enhancing its physical, chemical, and biological properties. It improves soil structure, water retention, nutrient availability, and microbial activity, contributing significantly to sustainable agriculture. Organic amendments, including animal manure, compost, biosolids, crop residues, and various organic by-products, are widely used to restore degraded soils by increasing SOM content. These amendments not only supply essential nutrients but also promote biological aggregation, suppress soil-borne pathogens, and improve soil's resistance to environmental stressors such as drought and heavy metal toxicity. The positive impacts of organic amendments on soil properties are well-documented, with key benefits including increased soil organic carbon (SOC), improved nutrient cycling, enhanced microbial diversity, and greater water-holding capacity. Organic materials such as compost and animal manure have been shown to significantly improve soil fertility and restore degraded soils. The application of green manure and crop residues also boosts soil biodiversity, enhances rhizospheric processes, and supports overall ecosystem resilience. This paper emphasizes the importance of adopting holistic soil management practices that include organic amendments, conservation tillage, and sustainable cropping systems to address soil degradation. By focusing on replenishing SOM, improving nutrient availability, and increasing soil biodiversity, these practices can contribute to the long-term sustainability of agricultural systems and environmental health. The restoration of soil organic matter is essential for enhancing soil quality and mitigating degradation, ultimately ensuring food security and ecosystem stability for future generations.

Keywords: Organic amendments, soil restoration, soil properties, agriculture, organic matter, manure

1. INTRODUCTION

Human activities have profoundly altered Earth's ecosystems, leading to significant environmental degradation, particularly through changes to soil properties. Anthropogenic influences, such as agricultural practices, industrial development, and urban expansion, have resulted in the deterioration of soil's physical, chemical, and biological integrity. For instance, Ellis *et al.* [1] estimated that in 1700, 95% of Earth's ice-free land was categorized as wild or semi-natural landscapes. However, by 2000, human activities had transformed 55% of this land into rangelands, croplands, and urbanized areas, leaving only 45% of natural habitats intact. This shift not only reduces biodiversity but also disrupts soil ecosystems. Zika and Erb[2] reported that dryland degradation alone leads to the loss of 2% of global terrestrial net

Comment [rs1]: Add some more keywords related to topic

Comment [rs2]: Write numbering in this format

1.
1.1
1.2
2.
2.1
2.2 etc

Comment [rs3]: Write in italic font like *et al.*

primary productivity annually, further diminishing soil quality. Without organic matter, the soil's ability to retain water, regulate temperature, and support microbial activity is significantly compromised. This creates a cycle of degradation that hinders future regeneration, making it increasingly difficult to restore degraded soils for productive use. Given the importance of soil organic matter for soil health, restoring degraded lands often hinges on rebuilding a surface horizon rich in organic matter. While importing topsoil is an option, it is often economically and environmentally unsustainable, as the donor areas themselves suffer degradation [3]. As an alternative, the use of organic amendments such as manure, biosolids, and other organic wastes has been practiced for centuries to restore soil fertility [4]. These materials help replenish soil organic matter and improve soil structure, nutrient content, and biological activity [5]. However, despite the well-documented benefits of organic amendments [6], they are often viewed with skepticism due to concerns about potential contaminants, such as heavy metals, pathogens, and excess nutrients, which can leach into water sources [7]. This paper explores the critical role of organic matter in soil restoration, examining how organic amendments can enhance soil properties and contribute to the recovery of degraded lands.

Comment [rs4]: Add some more about organic amendments and their impact on soil health

2.1 Organic Matter as Soil Amendments

Organic matter plays a crucial role in maintaining the health and functionality of soil ecosystems. It provides the essential substrates for decomposing microbes, which in turn release nutrients that plants require for growth. Furthermore, organic matter enhances soil structure, improves water-holding capacity, increases natural resistance to soil-borne pathogens, and mitigates the toxicity of heavy metals [8, 9]. Given these critical functions, restoring depleted organic matter levels in soil is a vital aspect of soil management. The application of organic amendments, such as compost, has proven to be an effective strategy for improving both the physical structure and the chemical and biological fertility of soils, as well as for suppressing soil-borne diseases [10, 11]. The use of organic amendments to enhance soil fertility dates back thousands of years. Ancient civilizations, including the Greeks and Romans, recognized the benefits of applying animal manure and human sewage to soils, as well as the advantages of rotating crops with legumes to improve soil fertility [12]. Modern organic amendments include a variety of materials such as compost, animal manure, peat moss, wood chips, straw, sewage sludge, and sawdust, which can be categorized into five main types [12].

2.2 Types of Organic Amendments

2.2.1 Animal Manure

Animal manure, composed of a mixture of animal feces, urine, and bedding material, has long been used to improve soil fertility. Manure is derived from various livestock, including cattle, poultry, and pigs, and its nutrient content depends on the type of animal, the duration of storage, and whether the manure has been composted. Manure provides not only essential nutrients for plants but also organic matter that enhances soil structure and fertility. During aerobic decomposition, manure releases carbon dioxide and

Comment [rs5]: Add nutrient content in animal manure with references

more stable organic compounds, while anaerobic conditions can produce methane and volatile organic acids [12]. Animal manure is a primary source of organic fertilizer in agriculture, predominantly sourced from poultry, pig, cattle, and sheep farms [13]. With increasing food demand and shifts in human lifestyle and dietary habits, animal production has expanded significantly in recent years. This growth in the production of meat, eggs, dairy, and leather has introduced several new environmental challenges [14].

2.2.2 Municipal Biosolids

Changing lifestyles have led to a global increase in wastewater production. As a result, biosolids which are residual byproducts from the treatment of municipal wastewater are also commonly applied to soil as fertilizer [15, 16]. Municipal biosolids, or treated **sewage sludge**, are organic materials processed to reduce odors and pathogens, making them suitable for agricultural use. Biosolids are rich in nutrients and organic matter but are subject to strict regulations to control levels of heavy metals, pathogens, and other contaminants before being applied to soils [12].

Comment [rs6]: Add nutrient content in sewage and sludge

2.2.3 Green Manure and Cover Crops

Green manure involves growing specific crops and incorporating them into the soil while still green, which boosts soil fertility by adding organic matter and nutrients. Cover crops, such as legumes or non-leguminous species like sorghum and buckwheat, are used to protect soil from erosion and improve soil health during fallow periods or between crop rotations. Legumes are particularly beneficial as they fix nitrogen from the atmosphere, enriching the soil with both nitrogen and organic matter [12]. Cover crops can also increase microbial activity, improve water retention, and reduce erosion during off-season periods [17].

Comment [rs7]: Add some example of green manuring and cover crops

2.4 **Compost and Waste from Manufacturing Processes**

In recent years, compost has gained attention as an alternative to synthetic fungicides for controlling phytopathogens. Research shows that the increase in microbial biomass following compost application can lead to general disease suppression [18]. Composting is widely regarded as the most common method for recovering materials from organic waste. Composts are composed of a stable mixture of decayed organo-mineral materials derived from sources such as food scraps, green waste, animal manure, and sewage sludge [19]. In Europe, nearly half of the compost produced is applied to agricultural land [20]. Beyond enhancing soil organic carbon content, compost application has been shown to increase the abundance, activity, and biodiversity of soil microbiota [21]. Additionally, compost made from crop residues and green wastesuch as leaves, stalks, and stubblehas been found to improve soil water retention, significantly alter microbial communities, and help suppress plant diseases [22]. However, there are potential downsides to compost use. High electrical conductivity and a high carbon-to-nitrogen (C/N) ratio can lead to soil salinity and nitrogen immobilization. Compost derived from the organic fraction of municipal waste often contains elevated levels of heavy metals, which can accumulate in the soil with

Comment [rs8]: Add nutrient content also

repeated use, posing environmental risks [23]. The presence of both organic and inorganic contaminants in compost, depending on its source, can therefore threaten agricultural systems (Kobayashi et al., 2009). While decades of research on composting have yielded extensive knowledge about the process and its effects on soil [24], concerns about contaminants remain.

Meta-analyses have also demonstrated varying degrees of effectiveness in disease suppression depending on the type of phytopathogen [25]. However, the wide variability in compost quality, maturity, organic matter content, and microbial composition often results in inconsistent outcomes, making it difficult to identify specific indicators of pathogen suppression [26]. Compost is one of the most widely used organic amendments and is created through the controlled decomposition of organic waste materials. It provides multiple benefits, including the recycling of nutrients, improving soil organic carbon content, enhancing microbial activity, and supplying essential nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and magnesium [27]. Compost also improves soil porosity, water retention, and cation exchange capacity (CEC), while promoting the suppression of soil-borne pathogens such as *Pythium*, *Phytophthora*, and *Fusarium* spp. [28]. In recent years, on-farm composting has gained popularity as an environmentally friendly and cost-effective method for recycling agricultural waste into high-quality soil amendments [29]. This practice not only reduces waste disposal costs but also provides a sustainable source of compost for farmers, contributing to soil health and fertility. On the other hand, organic by-products from various manufacturing industries, such as seed residues, animal feathers, biochar, and paper mill biosolids, are increasingly being used as soil amendments. However, these materials are used less frequently in agriculture due to limited knowledge about their decomposition rates and nutrient availability [12].

2.2 Sources of Organic Amendments for Soil Restoration

A wide range of organic amendments is available for soil restoration, originating from agriculture, forestry, and urban waste streams. These materials provide essential organic matter and nutrients that help rehabilitate degraded soils, improving both their fertility and structure. Agricultural sources of organic amendments are among the most prevalent and include livestock manure whether fresh, composted, or derived from solid fractions of anaerobic digesters produced by cattle, hogs, and poultry. Crop residues, such as straw and leguminous plants, and spent mushroom compost are also commonly used. These amendments supply organic matter and nutrients that are vital for restoring soil health. Forestry also contributes organic amendments, including wood chips, shavings, and deinking sludge. In the past, wood residuals from the lumber industry were often incinerated to produce wood ash, which was also used as a soil amendment [30]. However, these forestry by-products are particularly useful for improving soil structure and increasing organic matter content in degraded lands.

Urban waste streams provide additional sources of organic amendments, such as biosolids (sewage sludge and municipal sludge) produced by wastewater treatment plants. The biodegradable fraction of municipal solid waste, which includes food scraps, yard waste, and paper products, is increasingly used in land restoration as well. These materials, previously destined for landfills, are now being diverted for agricultural use due to concerns over diminishing landfill space [21]. The food processing industry, which handles vegetables, grains, meat, and fish, generates significant amounts of organic by-products that could be used for soil restoration, although they are not yet widely utilized in this context [31]. Historically, organic amendments from urban areas, such as biosolids and food processing waste, were sent to landfills, but this practice has decreased in favor of land application as environmental concerns over landfill space have grown [32].

2.3. Effects of Organic Amendments on Soil Properties

Organic amendments significantly impact soil properties, both directly through their inherent characteristics and indirectly by modifying the soil's physical, biological, and chemical attributes. These amendments play a crucial role in soil restoration, particularly in degraded environments, where they enhance soil health, nutrient availability, and structure. Organic matter is essential for soil health and plays a critical role in maintaining overall environmental quality [33]. Intensive agricultural practices, when not supplemented with organic amendments to restore soil organic carbon, along with industrial pollution, can adversely affect the soil's chemical properties. This depletion of soil carbon content has harmful effects on microbial activity, diversity, and enzymatic functions [34]. Additionally, these practices can lead to a significant increase in soil salinity [35]. It is well established that adding organic amendments to soil increases soil organic matter, which in turn enhances water-holding capacity, porosity, and aggregate stabilitykey factors in improving soil quality [36]. Additionally, applying other waste materials such as rice husk, wheat straw, reeds, and biochar, alongside composts and manures, has been shown to improve soil aggregate stability and reduce bulk density [37]. Since organic fertilizers have a much higher water-holding capacity compared to degraded soils, their application can significantly boost the soil's water retention. This mixed approach to soil supplementation can amplify the benefits of organic amendments. However, the overall impact and long-term effects depend heavily on the type and number of organic amendments used [37, 38].

2.3.1. Soil Organic Matter Content

Soil organic matter is considered one of the most vital components influencing soil quality and functionality [39]. The application of organic amendments typically results in an immediate increase in soil organic carbon, with the amount of carbon added often proportional to the quantity of organic matter applied [40]. However, detecting measurable changes in soil organic carbon can be challenging, especially in soils with high background organic carbon or variability. The long-term retention of soil organic carbon depends on the rate of decomposition and the intrinsic quality of the organic amendment

Comment [rs9]: Add effects of organic amendments on soil health in this format
Physical properties of soil
Chemical properties of soil
Biological properties of soil

[41, 42]. Carbon introduced into the soil through organic amendments originates from plant material, with its stability influenced by factors such as plant type and post-harvest processing. For example, cereal straw incorporated into soil as part of manure decomposes differently than fresh straw, as composting stabilizes the carbon, leading to more durable improvements in soil organic matter [42].

2.3.2. Soil Microbial Communities

It is widely understood that after adding organic amendments to soil, the introduced microbial communities usually give way to the native soil microbes, except for some persistent pathogens [68]. The changes in soil microbial communities that follow are mainly linked to the shifts in the soil's physical and chemical properties caused by the amendments [14]. Organic amendments can alter the composition, biomass, and activity of native microbes by providing them with more nutrients for growth [21]. However, research on this topic often shows site-specific results. For instance, some studies have found no changes in microbial communities in soils contaminated with lead after adding organic materials like poultry litter, sheep manure, paper mill sludge, or cow slurry, possibly due to the severe contamination [43]. On the other hand, other studies have shown beneficial effects of organic amendments on native microbiota in agricultural soils [14]. In degraded soils, adding organic amendments has been found to boost soil life both in terms of quantity and biodiversity [44]. For example, animal manure has been shown to increase earthworm populations compared to soils only treated with synthetic fertilizers, likely due to the added carbon and improved water retention from organic fertilizers [45]. Organic amendments positively influence soil biota, enhancing soil biochemical activities such as enzymatic function and overall biodiversity [46]. Studies have shown that organic amendments, particularly animal manure, increase the abundance of earthworms compared to inorganic fertilizers [47]. The composition of the amendment also matters; farmyard manure and cattle slurry, for instance, tend to support higher earthworm populations than composts, due to the greater availability of carbon in manure. Similarly, microbial communities benefit from organic amendments, as they provide a significant carbon source that stimulates microbial growth and activity. This is often measured by the increase in soil microbial biomass carbon following the addition of organic amendments [48]. The level of microbial activity, however, varies depending on the decomposability and rate of application of the amendments [49].

2.3.3. Biological Aggregation and Soil Restoration

Organic amendments initiate soil biological activity, which plays a central role in soil reclamation. This process takes place in the detritosphere, a localized area around decomposing organic residues, where intense microbial activity occurs [50]. Studies have shown that decomposing plant residues significantly alter the physical structure of soil, promoting the formation of stable soil aggregates. As organic residues are colonized by microbes, they bind with mineral particles, creating stable aggregates that protect organic matter from rapid decomposition [51]. The application of organic amendments such as wood-derived sludge, compost, and cattle manure has been shown to promote the formation of soil aggregates,

stabilizing soil organic carbon and contributing to the early stages of soil formation in highly degraded areas [52].

2.3.4 Nitrogen and Phosphorus Availability

Organic amendments or fertilizers contain varying amounts of nitrogen and phosphorus in different forms [53]. Organic amendments contain nitrogen in varying concentrations, with some forms more readily available than others [68]. Nitrogen is typically found in an organic form, but in animal manures especially liquid ones most of the nitrogen is in a mineral form that is readily available for plants to absorb [19]. When nitrogen is present in its organic form, it must undergo a process called mineralization to be converted into a form that plants can use [54]. One of the main advantages of using organic amendments instead of synthetic fertilizers is the different ways in which phosphorus becomes available. Studies have shown that applying animal manure is often more effective than using inorganic phosphorus fertilizers, leading to greater phosphorus availability. In contrast, the increase in phosphorus from synthetic fertilizers is often minimal, even with high application rates [55, 56]. In liquid animal manures, nitrogen is present in a mineral form (ammonia), which plants can absorb immediately [40]. However, in most organic amendments, nitrogen is in an organic form, requiring mineralization to convert it into a plant-available form. Low-nitrogen amendments may even immobilize nitrogen, competing with plants for available nitrogen. Predicting nitrogen availability from organic amendments depends on their chemical composition, including factors such as soluble cellulose and lignin-like fractions, which influence the rate of nitrogen mineralization [42].

2.3.5. Water-Holding Capacity and Plant-Available Water

Organic amendments typically increase the water-holding capacity of soils, particularly in sandy, degraded soils that lack this essential property [57]. The organic matter in these amendments absorbs and retains water, providing more plant-available water. The extent of this benefit depends on the type and decomposition state of the organic amendment. While some studies have shown significant increases in water retention following the addition of organic matter, the effects can vary depending on the soil texture and other factors [58]. For instance, biosolids have been found to improve water retention in fine-textured soils such as silt loams but have less effect on sandy soils, where decreased bulk density may offset water retention gains [59]. Similar results have been observed with manure applications, which tend to increase water retention primarily due to the water absorbed by the organic matter itself [60].

Table 1: Positive Impacts of Identified Soil Organic Amendments

Positive Impact	Details/Description	References
Increases Soil Organic Matter	Organic amendments increase soil organic carbon, which improves overall soil quality and functioning.	Gregorich et al., [39]; Chantigny et al., [40]; Lashermes et al., [42]
Enhances Soil	Organic matter improves poor soil physical	Viaud et al., [41]; Golchin et

Positive Impact	Details/Description	References
Structure	conditions, leading to better structure and reduced compaction.	al., [51]; Sere et al., [52]
Boosts Microbial Activity	Organic amendments provide carbon, which serves as an energy source for soil microbes, increasing microbial biomass.	Viaud et al., [41]; Belyaeva & Haynes, [48]
Increases Soil Biota	Organic amendments, particularly animal manure, increase earthworm abundance and soil biodiversity.	Bastida et al., [46]; Leroy et al., [47]
Promotes Biological Aggregation	Induces biological activity that forms stable soil aggregates, protecting organic matter and contributing to pedogenesis.	Gaillard et al., [50]; Golchin et al., 1994; Sere et al., [52]
Improves Nitrogen Availability	Organic amendments can provide slow-release nitrogen, reducing the risk of leaching and enhancing plant uptake.	Chantigny et al., [40]; Lashermes et al., [66]
Increases Water-Holding Capacity	Organic matter retains more water, enhancing water-holding capacity, particularly in sandy and degraded soils.	Camberato et al., [57]; Fierro et al., [58]; Larney & Pan[3]
Suppresses Soil-Borne Pathogens	Compost amendments have been shown to suppress diseases caused by soil pathogens like <i>Pythium</i> and <i>Phytophthora</i> .	Borrero et al., [28]; Donn et al., [61]
Enhances Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC)	Compost improves soil CEC, increasing the soil's ability to retain and exchange nutrients.	Scotti et al., [10]
Promotes Long-Term Carbon Stability	Composted materials stabilize carbon, resulting in longer-lasting increases in soil organic matter.	Lashermes et al., [42]
Reduces Heavy Metal Toxicity	Organic matter can help mitigate the harmful effects of heavy metals in soil.	Park et al., [9]

Comment [rs10]: Write as italic font in all places

Comment [rs11]: All et al write as a et al.

Source: Author's Compilation

In general, organic amendments play a critical role in improving soil properties, from increasing organic matter and microbial activity to enhancing water retention and nutrient availability. These changes support soil restoration, particularly in degraded environments, by creating conditions that promote long-term soil health and productivity. More so, organic amendments for soil restoration come from diverse sources, including agriculture, forestry, and urban waste. Each type of amendment offers unique benefits for improving soil quality, adding organic matter, and enhancing nutrient availability, all of which are critical for the successful rehabilitation of degraded soils.

Potential Risks of Organic Amendments

1. Application of sewage sludge and animal manures can introduce pathogenic microorganisms (e.g., *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella*, *Campylobacter*, *Yersinia*), posing risks to soil health [61].
2. Organic amendments may contain heavy metals, which can accumulate in the soil especially when they are been slowly released over time.

3. The application of sewage sludge contributes significantly to microplastic contamination in soils (120 to 860 tons annually in Europe) [62]. Microplastics and nanoplastics have toxic effects on various organisms, including microbial communities, earthworms, birds, and mammals, raising concerns about ecosystem health [61, 63].
4. Organic amendments decompose over time, releasing bound contaminants such as metals and micro/nanoplastics, potentially affecting plant growth [64].
5. Contaminants from organic amendments can transfer through the food chain, impacting animal and human health [64].

CONCLUSION

Soil organic matter (SOM) is a fundamental component of soil health, significantly impacting its physical, chemical, and biological properties. Effective management of SOM is crucial for maintaining soil fertility, promoting sustainable agriculture, and ensuring long-term ecosystem health. However, practices such as continuous cropping, intensive land use, and improper soil management can lead to significant declines in soil organic matter, particularly soil organic carbon (SOC). This decline has negative implications for soil structure, water retention, nutrient cycling, and overall productivity. The application of organic amendments, including animal manure, compost, biosolids, and green manure, plays a vital role in restoring and enhancing soil properties. These amendments not only increase SOC and improve soil structure but also enhance microbial activity and biodiversity. They provide essential nutrients and improve water-holding capacity, facilitating a healthier soil ecosystem. Additionally, organic amendments can help mitigate the risks associated with soil contamination, such as heavy metals and pathogens, while also addressing emerging concerns related to microplastics and antibiotic resistance genes. Despite the potential benefits, the use of organic amendments must be carefully evaluated to avoid releasing bound contaminants and to assess their bioavailable fractions. Regular monitoring and risk assessments are necessary to ensure that soil health is enhanced without introducing new risks. Strategies for successful soil restoration include adopting an integrated approach that combines the application of organic amendments with conservation tillage, crop rotations, and sustainable land use practices. By prioritizing the use of organic amendments, we can restore degraded soils, enhance their resilience to environmental stressors, and improve their capacity to support healthy plant growth. Ultimately, fostering soil health through the strategic application of organic amendments is essential for achieving sustainable agricultural systems, protecting the environment, and ensuring the well-being of future generations.

Comment [rs12]: Make the conclusion a little shorter and also clarify about topic

DISCLAIMER (ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE)

Author(s) hereby declares that NO generative AI technologies such as Large Language Models (ChatGPT, COPILOT, etc) and text-to-image generators have been used during writing or editing of manuscripts.

REFERENCES

1. Ellis, E. C., Klein Goldewijk, K., Siebert, S., Lightman, D. and Ramankutty, N. 2010. Anthropogenic transformation of the biomes, 1700 to 2000. *Global Ecol. Biogeogr.* 19: 589_606.
2. Zika, M. and Erb, K. H. 2009. The global loss of net primary production resulting from human-induced soil degradation in drylands. *Ecol. Econ.* 69: 310_318.
3. Larney, F. J. and Pan, W. L. 2006. Organic waste to resource: recycling nutrients. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 86: 585_586.
4. Montgomery, D. R. 2007. *Dirt: the erosion of civilizations*. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA. 60: 297_310
5. Akala, V. A. and Lal, R. 2000. Potential of mine land reclamation for soil organic carbon sequestration in Ohio. *Land Degradation Development* 11: 289_297.
6. Stewart, B. A., Robinson, C. A. and Parker, D. B. 2000. Examples and case studies of beneficial reuse of beef cattle byproducts. Pages 387_407 in J. F. Power and W. A. Dick, eds. *Land application of agricultural, industrial and municipal byproducts*. SSSA Book Series No. 6, SSSA, Madison, WI.
7. Larney, F. J., Hao, X. and Topp, E. 2011. Manure management. Pages 247_263 in J. L. Hatfield and T. J. Sauer, eds. *Soil management: building a stable base for agriculture*. ASA, SSSA, Madison, WI.
8. Abiven, S., Menassero, S., and Chenu, C. 2009. The effect of organic inputs over time on soil aggregate stability - a literature analysis. *Soil Biological Biochem.* 41, 1-12.
9. Park, J. H., Lamb, D., Paneerselvam, P., Choppala, G., Bolan, N., and Chung, J. W. 2011. Role of organic amendments on enhanced bioremediation of heavy metal(loid) contaminated soils. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 185, 549-574.
10. Scotti, R., Conte, P., Berns, A. E., Alonzo, G., and Rao, M. A. 2013. Effect of organic amendments on the evolution of soil organic matter in soils stressed by intensive agricultural practices. *Curr. Org. Chem.* 17, 2998-3005.
11. Zaccardelli, M., De Nicola, F., Vилlecco, D., and Scotti, R. 2013. The development and suppressive activity of soil microbial communities under compost amendment. *J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 13, 730-742.
12. Goss, M. J., Tubeileh, A., and Goorahoo, D. (2013). A review of the use of organic amendments and the risk to human health. *Adv. Agron.* 120, 275-379.
13. Kobayashi, T., Murai, Y., Tatsumi, K., & Imura, Y. (2009). Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by *Sphingomonas* sp. enhanced by water-extractable organic matter from manure compost. *Science of The Total Environment*, 407(22), 5805–5810. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.06.041
14. Tahmasbian, I., Safari Sinegani, A.A., Nguyen, T.T.N. (2017). Application of manures to mitigate the harmful effects of electrokinetic remediation of heavy metals on soil microbial properties in polluted soils. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 24, 26485–26496. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-0281-y>
15. Melo, W., Delarica, D., Guedes, A., Lavezzo, L., Donha, R., Araújo, A. D., ... Macedo, F. (2018). Ten years of application of sewage sludge on tropical soil. A balance sheet on agricultural crops

and environmental quality. *Science of The Total Environment*, 643, 1493–1501. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.254

16. Eid, E. M., Hussain, A. A., Taher, M. A., Galal, T. M., Shaltout, K. H., & Sewelam, N. (2019). Sewage Sludge Application Enhances the Growth of *Corchorus olitorius* Plants and Provides a Sustainable Practice for Nutrient Recirculation in Agricultural Soils. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 20(1), 149–159. doi: 10.1007/s42729-019-00113-z
17. Sullivan, P. 2003. Overview of cover crops and green manures: fundamentals of sustainable agriculture.
18. Siddiqui, Y., Meon, S., Ismail, R., Rahmani, M., & Ali, A. (2008). Bio-efficiency of compost extracts on the wet rot incidence, morphological and physiological growth of okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* [(L.) Moench]). *Scientia Horticulturae*, 117(1), 9–14. doi: 10.1016/j.scienta.2008.03.008
19. Baldantoni, D., Morelli, R., Bellino, A., Prati, M. V., Alfani, A., & Nicola, F. D. (2017). Anthracene and benzo(a)pyrene degradation in soil is favoured by compost amendment: Perspectives for a bioremediation approach. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 339, 395–400. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.06.043
20. Latifah, O., Ahmed, O.H., Majid, N.M.A. (2018). Soil pH buffering capacity and nitrogen availability following compost application in a tropical acid soil. *Compost Sci Util*, 26(1), 1–15.
21. Gandolfi, I., Siculo, M., Franzetti, A., Fontanarosa, E., Santagostino, A., Bestetti, G. (2010). Influence of compost amendment on microbial community and ecotoxicity of hydrocarbon-contaminated soils. *Bioresource Technology*, 101, 2, 568-575.
22. Feng, L., Zhang, L., Feng, L. (2014). Dissipation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil amended with sewage sludge compost, *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 95, Part A, 200-207.
23. Kodešová, R., Kočárek, M., Hajková, T., Hýbler, M., Drábek, O., & Kodeš, V. (2012). Chlorotoluron mobility in compost amended soil. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 118, 88–96. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2011.10.014
24. Woignier, T., Clostre, F., Fernandes, P. (2016). Compost addition reduces porosity and chlordecone transfer in soil microstructure. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 23, 98–108.
25. Kavroulakis, N., Ntougias, S., Besi, M. I., Katsou, P., Damaskinou, A., Ehaliotis, C., ... Papadopoulou, K. K. (2010). Antagonistic bacteria of composted agro-industrial residues exhibit antibiosis against soil-borne fungal plant pathogens and protection of tomato plants from *Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp. *radicis-lycopersici*. *Plant and Soil*, 333(1-2), 233–247. doi: 10.1007/s11104-010-0338-x
26. Milinković, M., Lalević, B., Jovičić-Petrović, J., Golubović-Čurguz, V., Kljujev, I., & Raičević, V. (2019). Biopotential of compost and compost products derived from horticultural waste—Effect on plant growth and plant pathogens suppression. *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, 121, 299–306. doi: 10.1016/j.psep.2018.09.024
27. Scotti, R., D'Ascoli, R., Bonanomi, G., Caceres, M. G., Sultana, S., Cozzolino, L., Scelza, R., Zoina, A., Rao, and M. A. 2015. Combined use of compost and wood scraps to increase carbon stock and improve soil quality in intensive farming systems. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* doi: 10.1111/ejss.12248

28. Borrero, C., Trillas, M. I., Ordovás, J., Tello, J. C., and Avilés, M. 2004. Predictive factors for the suppression of *Fusarium* wilt of tomato in plant growth media. *Phytopathology*. 94, 1094-1101.
29. Pane, C., Celano, G., Piccolo, A., Villecco, D., Spaccini, R., Palese, A.M., Zaccardelli, M. 2015. Effects of on-farm composted tomato residues on soil biological activity and yields in a tomato cropping system. *Chemical Biological Technol. Agric.* 2, 4.
30. Charnley, E., Nelson, D. and Zvomuya, F. 2006. Nutrient cycling in the vegetable processing industry: Utilization of potato by-products. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 86: 621_629.
31. MacLeod, J. A., Kuo, S., Gallant, T. L. and Grimmett, M. 2006. Seafood processing wastes as nutrient sources for crop production. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 86: 631_640.
32. Edwards, J. H. and Someshwar, A. V. 2000. Chemical, physical, and biological characteristics of agricultural and forest by-products for land application. Pages 1_62 in J. F. Power and W. A. Dick, eds. *Land application of agricultural, industrial and municipal by-products*. SSSA Book Series No. 6, SSSA, Madison, WI.
33. Mohan, D., Abhishek, K., Sarswat, A., Patel, M., Singh, P., Pittman, C.U. (2018). Biochar production and applications in soil fertility and carbon sequestration—a sustainable solution to crop-residue burning in India. *RSC Adv*, 8(1), 508–520
34. Rahman, F., Rahman, M.M., Rahman, G.K.M.M., Saleque, M.A., Hossain, A.S., Miah, M.G. (2016). Effect of organic and inorganic fertilizers and rice straw on carbon sequestration and soil fertility under a rice–rice cropping pattern. *Carbon Manage*, 7(1–2), 41–53.
35. Nawab, J., Khan, S., Aamir, M., Shamshad, I., Qamar, Z., Din, I., Huang, Q. (2016). Organic amendments impact the availability of heavy metal (loid) s in mine-impacted soil and their phytoremediation by *Penicium americanum* and *Sorghum bicolor*. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 23 (3), 2381–2390.
36. Beesley, L., Moreno-Jiménez, E., & Gomez-Eyles, J. L. (2010). Effects of biochar and greenwaste compost amendments on mobility, bioavailability and toxicity of inorganic and organic contaminants in a multi-element polluted soil. *Environmental Pollution*, 158(6), 2282–2287. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2010.02.003
37. Puglisi, E., Cappa, F., Fragoulis, G., Trevisan, M., & Re, A. A. D. (2007). Bioavailability and degradation of phenanthrene in compost amended soils. *Chemosphere*, 67(3), 548–556. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.09.058
38. Houben, D., Piricar, J., & Sonnet, P. (2012). Heavy metal immobilization by cost-effective amendments in a contaminated soil: Effects on metal leaching and phytoavailability. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 123, 87–94. doi: 10.1016/j.gexplo.2011.10.004
39. Gregorich, E. G., Carter, M. R., Angers, D. A., Monreal, C. M. and Ellert, B. H. 1994. Towards a minimum data set to assess soil organic matter quality in agricultural soils. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 74: 367_385.
40. Chantigny, M. H., Angers, D. A. and Beauchamp, C. J. 1999. Aggregation and organic matter decomposition in soils amended with de-inking paper sludge. *Soil Science Society American Journal* 63: 1214_1221.
41. Viaud, V., Angers, D. A., Parnaudeau, V., Morvan, T. and MenasseriAubry, S. (2011). Response of organic matter to reduced tillage and animal manure in a temperate loamy soil. *Soil Use Manage.* 27: 84_93.

42. Lashermes, G., Nicolardot, B., Parnaudeau, V., Thuriès, L., Chaussod, R., Guillotin, M. L., Lénire, M., Mary, B., Metzger, L., Morvan, T., Tricaud, A., Villette, C. and Houot, S. (2009). Indicator of potential residual carbon in soils after exogenous organic matter application. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 60: 297_310.
43. Chen, C., Guron, G. K., Pruden, A., Ponder, M., Du, P., & Xia, K. (2018). Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Bulk and Rhizosphere Soils Subject to Manure Amendment and Vegetable Cultivation. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 47(6), 1318–1326. doi: 10.2134/jeq2018.02.0078
44. Hashimoto, Y., Taki, T., & Sato, T. (2009). Extractability and leachability of Pb in a shooting range soil amended with poultry litter ash: Investigations for immobilization potentials. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A*, 44(6), 583–590. doi: 10.1080/10934520902784617
45. Kang, Y., Hao, Y., Shen, M., Zhao, Q., Li, Q., & Hu, J. (2016). Impacts of supplementing chemical fertilizers with organic fertilizers manufactured using pig manure as a substrate on the spread of tetracycline resistance genes in soil. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 130, 279–288. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2016.04.028
46. Bastida, F., Kandeler, E., Hernandez, T. and Garcia, C. 2008. Long-term effect of municipal solid waste amendment on microbial abundance and humus-associated enzyme activities under semiarid conditions. *Microbial Ecology* 55: 651_661.
47. Leroy, B. L. M., Herath, H. M. S. K., Sleutel, S., De Neve, S., Gabriels, D., Reheul, D. and Moens, M. 2008. The quality of exogenous organic matter: Short-term effects on soil physical properties and soil organic matter fractions. *Soil Use Manage.* 24: 139_147.
48. Belyaeva, O. N. and Haynes, R. J. 2009. Chemical, microbial and physical properties of manufactured soils produced by composting municipal green waste with coal fly ash. *Bioresour. Technol.* 100: 5203_5209.
49. Albiach, R., Canet, R., Pomares, F. and Ingelmo, F. 2000. Microbial biomass content and enzymatic activities after the application of organic amendments to a horticultural soil. *Bioresour. Technol.* 75: 43_48.
50. Gaillard, V., Chenu, C., Recous, S. and Richard, G. 1999. Carbon, nitrogen and microbial gradients induced by plant residues decomposing in soil. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 50: 567_578.
51. Golchin, A., Oades, J. M., Skjemstad, J. O. and Clarke, P. 1994. Soil structure and carbon cycling. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 32: 1043_1068.
52. Sere, G., Schwartz, C., Ouvrard, S., Renat, J.-C., Watteau, F., Villemin, G. and Morel, J. L. 2010. Early pedogenic evolution of constructed Technosols. *J. Soils Sediments* 10: 1246_1254.
53. Purnomo, A. S., Koyama, F., Mori, T., & Kondo, R. (2010). DDT degradation potential of cattle manure compost. *Chemosphere*, 80(6), 619–624. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.04.059
54. Zhang, J., Sui, Q., Tong, J., Zhong, H., Wang, Y., Chen, M., & Wei, Y. (2018). Soil types influence the fate of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes following the land application of sludge composts. *Environment International*, 118, 34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2018.05.029
55. Adam, I.K.U., Miltner, A., & Kästner, M. (2015). Degradation of ¹³C-labeled pyrene in soil-compost mixtures and fertilized soil. *Appl MicrobiolBiotechnol*, 99, 9813–9824 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-6822-8>

56. Naser, H., Rahman, M., Sultana, S., Quddus, M., & Haoque, M. (2018). Remediation of heavy metal polluted soil through organic amendments. *Bangladesh Journal of Agricultural Research*, 42(4), 589. doi:10.3329/bjar.v42i4.35786
57. Camberato, J. J., Gagnon, B., Angers, D. A., Chantigny, M. H. and Pan, W. L. 2006. Pulp and papermill by-products as soil amendments and plant nutrient sources. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 86: 641_653.
58. Fierro, A., Angers, D. A. and Beauchamp, C. J. 1999. Restoration of ecosystem function in an abandoned sandpit: plant and soil responses to paper de-inking sludge. *J. Applied Ecology* 36: 244_253.
59. Gardner, W. C., Broersma, K., Naeth, A., Chanasyk, D. and Jobson, A. 2010. Influence of biosolids and fertilizer amendments on physical, chemical and microbiological properties of copper mine tailings. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 90: 571_583.
60. Larney, F. J., Janzen, H. H., Olson, B. M. and Lindwall, C. W. 2000. Soil quality and productivity responses to simulated erosion and restorative amendments. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 80: 515_522
61. Watteau, F., Dignac, M.-F., Bouchard, A., Revallier, A., & Houot, S. (2018). Microplastic Detection in Soil Amended With Municipal Solid Waste Composts as Revealed by Transmission Electronic Microscopy and Pyrolysis/GC/MS. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 2. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2018.00081
62. Scheurer, M., & Bigalke, M. (2018). Microplastics in Swiss Floodplain Soils. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(6), 3591–3598. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.7b06003
63. Xu, B., Liu, F., Cryder, Z., Huang, D., Lu, Z., He, Y., ... Xu, J. (2019). Microplastics in the soil environment: Occurrence, risks, interactions and fate – A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 1–48. doi: 10.1080/10643389.2019.1694822
64. Imran, M., Das, K. R., & Naik, M. M. (2019). Co-selection of multi-antibiotic resistance in bacterial pathogens in metal and microplastic contaminated environments: An emerging health threat. *Chemosphere*, 215, 846–857. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.10.114
65. Donn, S., Wheatley, R. E., McKenzie, B. M., Loades, K. W., and Hallett, P. D. 2014. Improved soil fertility from compost amendment increases root growth and reinforcement of surface soil on slope. *Ecological Engineering* 71, 458-465.
66. Lashermes G., Nicolardot B., Parnaudeau V., Thuriès L., Chaussod R., Guillotin M.L., Linères M., Mary B., Metzger L., Morvan T., Tricaud A., Villette C., and Houot S (2010). Typology of exogenous organic matters based on chemical and biochemical composition to predict potential nitrogen mineralization *Bioresour. Technol.* **101** 157 -164
67. Anastasi, A., Coppola, T., Prigione, V., Varese, GC. (2009). Pyrene degradation and detoxification in soil by a consortium of basidiomycetes isolated from compost: Role of laccases and peroxidases, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 165, 1–3, 1229-1233.

Comment [rs13]: All reference make in APA style and also journal and scientific name is in italic font also all references make in alphabetically ascending order